017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 83, 537

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner/Defendant,

vs.

WIN 18 1994

WHIN 18 1994

OLERIN SUPPEME COURT

ON THE THOUSEN

VERONICA ANN LAFORET, and HENRY A. LAFORET, her husband,

Respondents/Plaintiffs.

Fourth DCA Case No. 92-2832 L.T. Case No. 90-0323 (CA 09)

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER, STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY

KUBICKI DRAPER
Attorneys for Petitioner
25 W. Flagler Street
Penthouse Suite
Miami, Fl 33130
Telephone: (305) 374-1212

Section 624.155, Florida Statutes (1982)						
Section 627.727(10), Florida Statutes						

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS1

The Case

Petitioner, STATE FARM, appellant in the district court and defendant in the trial court, seeks review of the Fourth District decision which passes on a question certified to be of great public importance. This proceeding arises from the entry of a final judgment after a jury verdict was rendered in favor of respondents, Veronica and Henry LaForet, who were the plaintiffs in a so-called "bad faith" action filed pursuant to Section 624.155, Florida Statutes (1986).

A. The Action for Uninsured Motorist ["UM"] Benefits

In May, 1989, plaintiffs LAFORET filed suit against STATE FARM for Uninsured motorist benefits arising from a March, 1986 automobile accident. (R. 242). Five months later, the jury returned a \$400,000.00 verdict in favor of plaintiffs LAFORET (R. 227). STATE FARM paid its policy limits of \$200,000.00 (R. 638-639)

B. The Action for Bad Faith

Plaintiffs, LAFORET, filed the complaint in this case in 1990 alleging that STATE FARM had acted in "bad faith" in failing to settle Veronica LaForet's claim for uninsured motorist ["UM"]

In this brief, petitioner will be referred as STATE FARM, and respondent will collectively referred to as LAFORET where appropriate. The parties will also be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The symbol "R" designates the Record on Appeal.

benefits arising out of the 1986 automobile accident. (R. 635-642).²

The complaint alleged that STATE FARM had acted in bad faith by failing to give plaintiffs permission to accept a settlement tendered by the tortfeasor, by refusing to arbitrate the UM dispute, by failing to make a reasonable settlement offer despite having full medical information available and by delaying the merits trial to exert economic pressure on plaintiffs. (R. 637-638). The complaint further alleged that "[d]espite Plaintiffs' repeated offers to settle within policy limits," STATE FARM failed to make a good faith offer to settle and failed to negotiate in good faith. (R. 638).

STATE FARM answered the complaint, denying the allegations of "bad faith", (R. 673-675), and the case proceeded to jury trial on July 6-7, 1992. (R. 1-566). At the conclusion of the evidence, the trial court instructed the jury on "bad faith" as follows:

An insurance company owes its insured an implied duty of good faith and fair dealing in the processing of a claim made under its insurance policy.

You are instructed that good faith implies honesty, fair dealing and full disclosure. Florida Statute 624.155 (a) (1) provides: Any person may bring a civil action against an insurer when such person is

The complaint was originally dismissed on the authority of Schimmel v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 506 So. 2d 1162 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). (R. 650; 655). Plaintiffs appealed the dismissal. (R. 656-657). After the Supreme Court of Florida decided Blanchard v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 575 So. 2d 1289 (Fla. 1991), STATE FARM confessed error, and this court reversed. (R. 616, 662-663). LaForet v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 578 So. 2d 910 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

damaged: By the commission of any of the following provisions by the insurer: Not attempting in good faith to settle claims when under all the circumstances it could and should have done so, had it acted fairly and honestly toward its insured and with due regard for his interests.

The issue for your determination is whether Defendant acted in bad faith with respect to payment of Plaintiffs' claim.

An insurance company acts in bad faith in failing to pay a claim of its insured under its policy when, under all the circumstances, it should have done so, had it acted fairly and honestly towards its insured and with due regard for their interests.

You are instructed that Defendant cannot be found to have acted in bad faith if the validity of the Plaintiff's claim was fairly debatable.

A claim is "fairly debatable" when there is a reasonable basis for denial of policy benefits.

The insurance company is under a duty to promptly investigate the facts underlying a claim, and when the insurance company fails to properly investigate, a breach of a promise of good faith and fair dealing has occurred between the insurance company and its insureds.

The lack of a formal offer to settle by Plaintiffs does not preclude a finding of bad faith. Bad faith may be inferred from a delay in settlement negotiations.

(R. 557-559). The highlighted charges were given over STATE FARM's objection. (R. 281-283; 302-308).

Closing arguments were given. Plaintiff's counsel requested the jury to award damages in the amount of \$109,393.88, representing the amount of attorney's fees LAFORET was required to pay, with interest. (R. 368, 527). The jury returned a verdict

finding that STATE FARM had acted in bad faith and awarding damages in the amount of \$24,000. (R. 563).

On July 7, 1992, the same day the jury's verdict was returned, Chapter 92-318, Laws of Florida (1993), became law without the signature of the governor. As a part of that chapter, the legislature created section 627.727 (10), Florida Statutes, which provides:

The damages recoverable from an uninsured motorist carrier in an action brought under s. 624.155 shall include the total amount of the claimant's damages, including the amount in excess of the policy limits, any interest on unpaid benefits, reasonable attorney's fees and costs, and any damages caused by a violation of a law of this state. The total amount of the claimant's damages are recoverable whether caused by an insurer or by a third-party tortfeasor.

Based on this new provision, plaintiffs filed a motion for additur, asking the court to award them the amount of the "excess judgment" as a matter of law. (R. 866-929). Defendant argued that retroactive application of the statute to the case was unconstitutional as a denial of due process and violated the prohibition against impairment of contracts. (R. 581).

Defendant moved for new trial on the grounds that the verdict was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, and that the trial court erred in giving plaintiffs' requested special jury instructions regarding bad faith. (R. 934-935). The motion also asserted that the trial court erred in denying STATE FARM's motion for directed verdict, since the plaintiffs' claim for UM benefits was "fairly debatable" as a matter of law. (R. 449-450; 515; 934-935).

In the order on post-trial motions, the trial court denied STATE FARM's motion for new trial and granted plaintiffs' motion for additur. (R. 965-966). The trial court awarded attorney's fees in the amount of \$141,753.00, representing a lodestar of \$70,876.50 and a multiplier of 2.0. (R. 961-964). The attorney's fee award included \$15,060.00 for work expended during the three appeals which the case generated. (R. 963).

The trial court granted plaintiffs' motion for additur, finding that the application of the UM statute amendment to the case was not unconstitutional. (R. 957-960). Final judgment was entered in the total amount of \$416,280.25, which included \$265,753 in damages for bad faith, \$141,753 in attorney's fees, and \$8,774.25 in costs. (R. 968-969).

In the appeal, STATE FARM contended that the trial court erred in denying STATE FARM'S Motion for Directed Verdict because there was no bad faith as a matter of law. As its second point, STATE FARM asserted that the trial court abused its discretion in instructing the jury that an inadequate investigation constituted bad faith without reference to the element of causation. As its third point, STATE FARM raised trial court error in granting plaintiffs' motion for additur based on the post-verdict amendment to Section 627.727, Florida Statutes; STATE FARM argued that retroactive application of the amendment was unconstitutional

³ <u>See State Farm Mutual Ins. Co. v. LaForet</u>, 591 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); <u>State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co. v. LaForet</u>, 586 So. 2d 479 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); <u>LaForet v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co.</u>, 578 So. 2d 910 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

as applied to this case. As its final point, STATE FARM asserted that the attorney's fee award should be reversed if the court reversed the final judgment; the excessiveness of the fee award was also challenged.

The Fourth District's decision, for the most part, affirmed the final judgment entered pursuant to the jury's verdict and the additur ordered by the trial court. The Fourth District rejected STATE FARM's contention that a directed verdict should be granted finding there was an issue of fact as to whether STATE FARM acted in bad faith.

The court also rejected STATE FARM's argument that the trial court erred by granting LAFORETS' post-trial motion for additur based on amended Section 627.727(10). The court found "the express intent of the legislature to be that this statute have retroactive application." On this issue, however, the Fourth District certified the following question as one of great public importance:

WHETHER AMENDED SECTION 627.727 (10), FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1992) IS A REMEDIAL STATUTE AND HAS RETROACTIVE APPLICATION?

The Fourth District did reverse the award of appellate attorney's fees for work performed in three prior appeals. The district court held that the LAFORETS were only entitled to appellate attorney's fees in one of the three earlier appeals because they had only requested appellate fees in that one case. The Fourth District summarily rejected STATE FARM's remaining points.

In this proceeding, STATE FARM requests this Court to accept jurisdiction and decide the certified question in the negative. STATE FARM further requests this Court to review the entire decision including the issues of: 1) STATE FARM's entitlement to a directed verdict on the ground that there was no bad faith as a matter of law; 2) the propriety of a bad faith instruction; and 3) the propriety of the attorney's fee award.

The Facts -- The Bad Faith Trial

The testimony at trial established the following: Veronica LaForet was a passenger in a car driven by her husband when they were struck from the rear by a vehicle driven by Tracy Culverhouse while they were stopped for a red light. (R. 120). LAFORETs' car sustained approximately \$400 in property damage. (R. 163).

After receiving notice of the accident from Mr. LaForet, STATE FARM obtained the Florida Traffic Accident Report which reflected that both vehicles had been stopped, but that Culverhouse's vehicle had defective brakes and had therefore begun to roll forward, striking the back of the LAFORET vehicle. (R. 223; Defendant's Exhibit 1). The report further noted that the LAFORET vehicle had not been pushed forward as a result of the impact. Culverhouse would later testify in deposition that he was going 2-3 miles per hour when he struck LAFORETs' vehicle. (R. 350). There was no

⁴ In a case involving a certified question, the Supreme Court clearly has the right to review the entire decision of the district court and "not just the question certified." See, e.g., Hillsborough Association for Retired Citizens, Inc. v. City of Temple Terrace, 332 So.2d 610, 612 (Fla 1976); Confederation of Canadian Life Ins. Co. v. Arminar, 144 So.2d 805, 807 (Fla 1962),

property damage to Culverhouse's vehicle. (R. 426). At trial, Henry LaForet testified that the impact was "a substantial force;" Veronica LaForet testified that the car "just about buckled." (R. 120, 327).

Mr. LaForet wanted his car fixed. (R. 329). He was told by his STATE FARM agent, Bob Grice, that STATE FARM would fix the car if he paid his \$100 deductible, or he could wait for Travelers, which insured the other car, to do so. (R. 327, 329). Mr. LaForet decided to pay the deductible rather than wait, and the STATE FARM agent said they would file a claim against Travelers and try to recover his deductible for him. (R. 329). Mr. LaForet assumed that STATE FARM was going to present Travelers with a claim for Mrs. LaForet's personal injuries as well, although no one at STATE FARM actually told him that. (R. 329, 353).

After the accident, Mrs. LaForet was taken to the emergency room, where she was treated and released. (R. 120-121). On April 11, 1986, she signed an application for PIP benefits which stated that she had severe neck pain: there was no mention of back pain. (R. 149). She did not seek further medical attention until September of 1986, six months after the accident, when she went to see Dr. Jacobson, with whom she had received pre-accident treatment for low back pain. (R. 122, 147). Dr. Jacobson's records did not reflect that she gave him a history of being in an automobile accident until four months later in January of 1987. (R. 348).

Mrs. LaForet, who was 58 years old at the time of the accident, had a long history of back trouble. (R. 116, 125). Dr.

Jacobson had treated Mrs. LaForet for back pain since 1981, and had performed a partial dissectomy in the low back area in 1982. (R. 116, 142, 325). His report from 1981 noted that she had a "long history of episodic low back pain which dates back to 1954." (R. 345). Before the accident, Mrs. LaForet had undergone two spinal nerve blocks, including one performed two months prior to the accident. (R. 117, 143-144).

After January of 1987, Mrs. LaForet began to receive extensive medical treatment for her low back pain, and was hospitalized a total of three times: twice for microscopic dissectomy, and once for a laminectomy in July of 1988. (R. 126). Dr. Jacobson found that Mrs. LaForet had reached maximum medical improvement in the summer of 1988. (R. 130).

LAFORET had \$20,000 in coverage available to pay Veronica's medical bills: \$10,000 in personal injury protection coverage ["PIP"], and \$10,000 in medical payments coverage ["med-pay"]. (R. 176). The medical bills were paid by STATE FARM under the PIP coverage until its \$10,000 limits were exhausted. Lynnita Johnson was the adjuster at STATE FARM who handled the PIP and med-pay payments. (R. 170).

On one occasion when Mrs. LaForet was being admitted to the hospital, she was told by the hospital that her PIP benefits had been exhausted. (R. 126, 330). Henry LaForet contacted agent Grice, who determined that the policy also provided med-pay coverage, and STATE FARM accepted responsibility for the claim. (R.

331). There was no gap in payment of Mrs. LaForet's medical expenses. (R. 352).

The med-pay coverage was exhausted in due course on April 15, 1988, as Mrs. LaForet continued to receive treatment for her back. (R. 187, 195). At that point, LAFORET's health insurance coverage took over; ultimately, Mrs. LaForet received approximately \$40,000 worth of treatment. (R. 133, 334, 215). No claim for UM benefits had been presented to STATE FARM to that point. (R. 352-353). Mrs. LaForet testified that she did not fail to seek treatment because of a lack of funds. (R. 150, 164).

From time to time, Mr. LaForet contacted Grice's office and asked what was happening with the claim against Travelers. (R. 333, 353-354). At some point in 1987, Grice, apparently recognizing Mr. LaForet's misunderstanding, advised him that he would have to hire an attorney to sue the other driver in order to recover any money from Travelers for his wife's personal injuries. (R. 333, 354-355).

Thereafter, in September of 1987, LAFORET retained counsel, who put STATE FARM on notice of the representation. (R. 195). STATE FARM was not aware that a UM claim was possibly going to be presented until receipt of the letter of representation. (R. 255). At that point, the UM portion of the claim was assigned to JoAnne Hopkins for handling on behalf of STATE FARM. (R. 259).

LAFORET sued the owner and driver of the truck in the fall of 1988. (R. 130, 335). On October 25, 1988, Travelers, which insured the owner, tendered its policy limits of \$10,000. (R. 130, 151). On November 3, 1988, plaintiffs' counsel contacted STATE FARM to

seek authorization to accept Travelers' policy limits. (R. 189). Hopkins responded on November 11, 1988, stating that STATE FARM needed to know if the driver had any other insurance before it could authorize the settlement. (R. 190, 191). In response, LAFORETs' counsel, Mr. Lanier, advised STATE FARM that in response to a statutory demand for disclosure of insurance information, no information regarding additional coverage for Culverhouse was given; Mr. Lanier also stated that he would "wait for [Travelers] to clarify the situation." (R. 190).

In April of 1989, Lanier advised STATE FARM that the driver in fact did not have any other coverage available, and although verbal permission to settle was given before that time, STATE FARM formally authorized the settlement, on April 28, 1989, agreeing to waive its subrogation rights. (R. 197, 198).

During the time Hopkins was awaiting a response from plaintiffs' counsel regarding the existence of other insurance coverage, she requested surveillance due to the disparity between the degree of impact and the amount of treatment. (R. 191-193, 263, 270). The surveillance films showed nothing. (R. 205).

LAFORETS' attorney demanded arbitration of the UM claim. (R. 132, 198, 261). Since the insurance policy provided the option of resolving claims by jury trial, however, STATE FARM advised LAFORET of its election not to arbitrate. (R. 198). Wallace Cormier, STATE FARM's claims supervisor, testified that STATE FARM normally does not elect to arbitrate; based on its experience with both

arbitrations and jury trials, STATE FARM would rather let a jury decide disputed issues. (R. 198-199).

On March 31, 1989, LAFORET made a written demand to settle the UM claim for \$300,000. (R. 271). This was the only demand ever made in the case. (R. 271). The available UM coverage, however, was only \$200,000: \$100,000 per person for each vehicle insured under the policy. (R. 172). In response to LAFORETs' demand, Hopkins stated that she needed more than what was in the medical reports to justify the demand. (R. 182, 242, 273). Rather than respond to the letter, plaintiffs filed suit against STATE FARM for UM benefits in May of 1989. (R. 242).

STATE FARM answered the complaint in June, and shortly thereafter, its counsel, Richard Singer, filed a motion to remove the cause from the trial docket stating that he could not be ready for the trial date which had been noticed for June 27, 1989. (R. 512). He testified that he needed to subpoen plaintiff's medical records from Dr. Jacobson to make sure that he had complete records, in light of her past history. (R. 512). Cormier did not know about the motion until after it was filed, and testified that STATE FARM did not advise its lawyers to seek a postponement of the trial. (R. 201, 228).

STATE FARM requested that Mrs. LaForet submit to a physical examination by Dr. Seig, an orthopedic surgeon. (R. 502). Dr. Seig gave STATE FARM a 14- page report in which he expressed the opinion that plaintiff suffered from a degenerative arthritic condition, and that the automobile accident played no role in Mrs. LaForet's

subsequent treatment. (R. 503). STATE FARM also had the case reviewed by a neurologist, who reached the same conclusion. (R. 222, 503). Finally, STATE FARM asked a radiologist to compare MRI studies performed prior to the accident with studies performed after the accident. (R. 187, 503). All three physicians advised STATE FARM that plaintiff's low back problems pre-existed the accident. (R. 223, 241, 503).

In preparation for mediation of the case, the claim was evaluated by STATE FARM's claims committee -- a group of STATE FARM supervisors with over 100 years combined experience, which is used to provide a consensus evaluation on settlement authority. (R. 233).

JoAnne Hopkins prepared a detailed evaluation for submission to the committee which requested \$100,000 in authority to settle the case. (R. 207). Her report discussed the minimal impact, outlined the medical bills, discussed plaintiff's multiple surgeries, and the opinion of Dr. Seig that the surgeries were necessitated by progressive degenerative changes in the facet joints, and not by the accident. The report stated:

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