FILED'

SID J. WHITE

AUG: 8 1994

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Tallahassee, Florida

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chilef Deputy Clerk

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY,

CASE NO. 83,537

Petitioner,

vs.

VERONICA ANN LAFORET and HENRY A. LAFORET, her husband,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON CERTIFIED QUESTION

GEORGE H. MOSS of
MOSS, HENDERSON, VAN GAASBECK,
BLANTON & KOVAL, P.A.
817 Beachland Blvd.
Vero Beach, FL 32964-3406
(407) 231-1900
and
JANE KREUSLER-WALSH of
JANE KREUSLER-WALSH, P.A.
Suite 503 - Flagler Center
501 South Flagler Drive
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(407) 659-5455

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

The title to Chapter 90-119, containing the 1990 amendment, specifically stated that its purpose was to clarify legislative intent.

Opinions following the enactment of Section 624.155 were consistent with the legislative intent that the recoverable damages in a first party bad faith case include the excess judgment. Hollar v. International Bankers Ins. Co., 572 So. 2d 937, 939 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), rev. dismissed, 582 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1991), recognized that Section 624.155 expanded the bad faith cause of action to first-

party claims and that the damages recoverable under first and third party bad faith claims are the same:

... The insurer is subject to liability in excess of policy limits if it acts in bad faith or through fraud. Baxter v. Royal Indemn. Co., 285 So. 2d 652, 656 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973); cert. discharged, 317 So.2d 725 (Fla. 1975).

Section 624.155 changes neither the case law obligation of good faith nor the measure of the damages due an insured once bad faith is proven. Rather than changing the decisional law, section 624.155 simply expands the cause of action to first-party claims, [cits. om.] (Emphasis added)

See also, Jones v. Continental Ins. Co., 716 F. Supp. 1456 (S.D. Fla. 1989), vacated 956 F.2d 1052 (11th Cir. 1992) (Eleventh Circuit vacated trial court's decision after this Court decided McLeod v. Continental Ins. Co., 591 So. 2d 621 (Fla. 1992), which held that first-party bad faith damages do not include the excess judgment); Opperman v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 515 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), rev. denied, 523 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 1988), and cases cited therein.

In <u>McLeod v. Continental Ins. Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court misinterpreted the legislature's intent in enacting Section 624.155 and held that a UM carrier could not be liable for the excess UM award even when the UM carrier acted in bad faith. This Court reasoned that allowing recovery of the excess judgment in first party bad faith cases would violate the principle that one is not liable for damages he or she did not cause. This "causation analysis" is faulty. The UM carrier makes itself responsible for

damages it did not cause by selling the policy and agreeing to stand in the shoes of the tortfeasor. The UM carrier makes itself liable for the excess judgment only if it violates the law.

In response to <u>McLeod</u>, the Legislature enacted Section 627.727(10) in 1992 to <u>again clarify and reaffirm</u> that the damages recoverable in a first party bad faith action include the excess judgment. The introductory language to Section 627.727(10) unambiguously states that the statute merely reaffirms existing legislative intent and is remedial:

The purpose of sub-section (10) of Section 627.727, Florida Statutes, relating to damages, is to reaffirm existing legislative intent, and as such is remedial rather than substantive. This Section and Section 627.727(10), Florida Statutes, shall take effect upon this act becoming a law [July 7, 1992] and, as it serves only to reaffirm the original legislative intent, section 627.727(10), Florida Statutes, shall apply to all causes of action accruing after the effective date of Section 624.155, Florida Statutes. (Emphasis added)

The Fourth District recently held in <u>Brookins v. Goodson</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1535 (Fla. 4th DCA July 20, 1994), that Section 627.727(10) is remedial and, therefore, applies retroactively:

Subsequent to McLeod, the legislature amended section 627.727 to permit a first party insured in a bad faith claim under section 624.155 to recover as damages "the amount in excess of the policy limits" and to specify that "the total amount of the claimant's damages are recoverable whether caused by an insurer or by a third-party tortfeasor." § 627.727(10), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992). [Fn. 2] Subsection (10) supersedes McLeod only to the extent of recognizing explicit statutory authority for awarding excess judgment damages

as part of the insured's damages in a first party bad faith claim.

[Fn. 2] Section 627.727 was amended in July 1992 to add subsection (10), which clarifies recoverable damages in actions brought under section 624.155. Subsection (10) reaffirms existing legislative intent, and as such, is remedial and applies retroactively. Chapter 92-318, § 80 Laws of Florida. (Emphasis added)

Where, as here, the legislature expressly indicates retroactive intent, courts generally give the statute retroactive effect unless the provision would "violate the constitution or result in manifest injustice." Seaboard System R.R., Inc., v. Clemente for and on Behalf of Metropolitan Dade County, 467 So. 2d 348, 357 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). Neither prohibition bars retroactive application of Section 627.727(10), which is a clarifying remedial measure affecting a previously existing right of action. As the United States Supreme Court recently noted in Landgraf v. USI Film Products, et al., 114 S. Ct. 1483, 1498, 128 L. Ed. 2d 229 (1994):

Retroactivity provisions often serve entirely benign and legitimate purposes, whether to respond to emergencies, to correct mistakes, to prevent circumvention of a new statute in the interval immediately preceding its passage, or simply to give comprehensive effect to a new law Congress considers salutary. However, a requirement that Congress first make its intention clear helps ensure that Congress itself has determined that the benefits of retroactivity outweigh the potential for disruption or unfairness. * * * (Emphasis added)

State Farm concedes that the legislature enacted Section 627.727(10) in response to McLeod. The amendment did not change the original legislation governing damages recoverable against a UM carrier for violation of Section 624.155, but merely clarified the remedies available for first party bad faith since 1982. Like the statute in Adams v. Wright, 403 So. 2d 391 (Fla. 1981), concerning remittitur and additur in actions arising out of motor vehicles, Section 627.727(10) was designed to give effect to existing legislative intent and, is, therefore, remedial.

It is well settled that the legislature may enact a statutory amendment to clarify its original intent in response to a judicial interpretation which is contrary to the legislature's original intent. See Palma Del Mar Condominium Ass'n No. 5 of St. Petersburg, Inc. v. Commercial Laundries of West Florida, Inc., 586 So. 2d 315 (Fla. 1991). As this Court stated in Lowry v. Parole and Probation Com'n, 473 So. 2d 1248 (Fla. 1985), on page 1250 of its opinion:

When, as occurred here, an amendment to a statute is enacted soon after controversies as to the interpretation of the original act arise, a court may consider that amendment as a legislative interpretation of the original law and not as a substantive change thereof.

That is precisely what occurred here and what the legislature indicated in its preamble to Section 627.727(10). See also Ziccardi v. Strother, 570 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

Village of El Portal v. City of Miami Shores, 362 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 1978), where this Court analyzed whether the Uniform Contribution Among Tort-feasor's Act applied even though the action giving rise to the tort liability predated passage of the Act, is analogous. The applicable provision, Section 768.31(7), provided:

(7) PENDING CAUSES OF ACTION. -This act shall apply to all causes of action
pending on June 12, 1975, wherein the rights
of contribution among joint tort-feasors is
involved and to cases thereafter filed.

The events giving rise to the tort action occurred in December of 1973. The litigation was begun in August of 1974. The Act became law in June of 1975 and was in effect prior to the final judgment. The Village claimed that the Act was unconstitutional because it affected substantive rights by abrogating the common law rule of no contribution and by creating a new cause of action in relation to events which preceded passage of the statute. This Court rejected this contention and held that the Act was a remedial measure which affected only the remedies available in a cause of action which already existed; therefore, retroactive application of the Act did not violate the Constitution.

Ivey v. Chicago Ins. Co., 410 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 1982), held that an amendment to the UM statute applied retroactively, even in the absence of the Legislature's expressly so stating, where the legislature intended the amendment to clarify, rather than change, the law.

Similarly, <u>Davis v. City and County of San Francisco</u>, 976 F.2d 1536 (9th Cir. 1992), held that the 1991 Civil Rights Act applied retroactively to cases pending at the time of its enactment, even though the Act did not contain explicit retroactive language similar to Section 627.727(10). Like here, the language of the Act revealed Congress' clear intention that the Act apply to cases pending at the time of its passage. Also, like here, the Act contained introductory language in which Congress expressed its intent to reverse a number of Supreme Court decisions that too narrowly construed various employment discrimination statutes. As the 9th Circuit stated on page 1552 of the opinion:

Given Congress' sense that the Supreme Court had construed the Nation's civil rights laws so as to afford insufficient redress to those who have suffered job discrimination, it appears likely that Congress intended the courts to apply its new legislation, rather than the Court decisions which predated the Act, for the benefit of the victims of discrimination still before them. ...

Lussier v. Dugger, 904 F.2d 661 (11th Cir. 1990), is also analogous. The plaintiff argued that changes to the Rehabilitation Act applied retroactively. The Act became law in March of 1988, with the express purpose of restoring "the prior consistent and long-standing executive branch interpretation and broad, institution-wide application" of four civil rights statutes, including the Rehabilitation Act. The preamble to the 1988 legislation stated that it was enacted to restore the broad scope of coverage and clarify the application of several acts and amendments stated therein. The Eleventh Circuit construed the

statutory amendment as remedial, and held as follows on page 665 of the opinion:

[T]he Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987 itself does not change prior legislation, but rather merely corrects judicial interpretations which the Congress believed "unduly narrowed or cast doubt upon the broad application" of the civil rights laws. ...

L. Ross, Inc. v. R. W. Roberts Const. Co., Inc., 481 So. 2d 484 (Fla. 1986), on which State Farm relies, is distinguishable. Unlike the amendment here, the amendment there contained no express statement of retroactive application. Nor did L. Ross, Inc. involve a situation where the legislature amended a statute to reiterate and reaffirm existing legislative intent and/or to correct prior judicial misinterpretations of a statute.

State Farm's reliance on State, Dept. of Transp. v. Knowles, 402 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 1981), is also misplaced. Here, the legislature stated that Section 627.727(10) clarified the law as originally enacted and provided for total retroactivity of the Knowles provided for partial The statute in retroactivity. Further, the statute in Knowles was not a clarification or restatement of existing law, but "a declaration ... by the Legislature that the state will henceforth substitute its liability to injured persons for the liability of public employees who are merely negligent." (Emphasis added) <u>Id</u>., at 1157.

Additionally, unlike the plaintiff in <u>Knowles</u>, who was unaware of the legislation until after the verdict, State Farm knew in the middle of this trial that the legislature had enacted Section 627.727(10), subject to the Governor's approval (R 317-319). Defense counsel stated as follows:

I have no objection to proffering it out in the excess, going ahead with the trial with the instructions that we had. And <u>if there need be any modification post-verdict based on this new law, then the court can do it at that time. We would agree to that.</u> (Emphasis added) (R 319)

Retroactive application of Section 627.727(10) does not unconstitutionally impair contracts. Again, Section 627.727(10) did not change the substantive law as it has existed since 1982. State Farm's argument on pages 30-31 of its brief, that "The enactment of section 627.727(10) unquestionably diminishes the value of the insurance contract to the insurer because it subjects it to significantly increased exposure -- open-ended policy limits -- with no corresponding benefit", ignores Section 627.0651(12), Florida Statutes (1990), which prohibits State Farm from increasing its rates commensurate with bad faith damages:

as a result of a statutory or common-law bad faith action and any portion of a judgment entered which awards punitive damages against an insurer shall not be included in the insurer's rate base, and shall not be used to justify a rate or rate change. ... The portion of the taxable costs and attorney's fees which is identified as being related to the bad faith and punitive damages in these judgments and settlements shall not be included in the insurer's rate base and shall not be utilized

to justify a rate or rate change. (Emphasis added)

By statute, State Farm is precluded from increasing its rates as a corollary to the amendment. There is no impairment of contract.

The legislature reacted to <u>McLeod</u> in enacting Section 627.727(10) in the sense that it was forced to clarify and reaffirm existing legislation. Rather than abrogating a plaintiff's right to full tort recovery as would have occurred in <u>Knowles</u>, Section 627.727(10) provides plaintiffs their full recovery. Section 624.155 has included the excess judgment in the recoverable damages for first party bad faith since its enactment in 1982, primarily to discourage precisely what State Farm did here. Section 627.727(10) is remedial, applies retroactively, and required the trial court to grant the plaintiffs' motion for additur to include the excess judgment.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED STATE FARM'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT.

This Court need not reach this issue for two reasons. First, counsel for State Farm failed to make an adequate motion for directed verdict at the close of the plaintiffs' case and at the close of the evidence, thereby waiving State Farm's right to contest the sufficiency of the evidence. Secondly, the court instructed the jury to follow the "fairly debatable" standard in

deciding whether State Farm was guilty of bad faith (R 558-559). Thus, regardless of which standard applies, the record supports the jury's finding of bad faith.

At the close of the plaintiffs' case, State Farm moved for a directed verdict "on all theories and elements of damages that the plaintiffs are claiming." (R 449-450). That was State Farm's counsel's entire motion and argument regarding liability for bad faith. The court denied the motion (R 450). At the close of all of the evidence, State Farm's counsel stated, "I wanted to renew my motion that I previously made" (R 515). There was no further argument; the court did not rule on the renewed motion (R 515).

Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.480(a) requires that "A motion for a directed verdict shall state the specific grounds therefor." State Farm's motion was inadequate as a matter of law as it failed to state the specific grounds. Thus, the trial court properly denied it. Further, there was evidence from which the jury could and did find that State Farm acted unreasonably. Where there is a conflict in the evidence, all reasonable inferences must be drawn favorably to the non-movant and the court cannot direct a verdict. Powell v. Prudential Property & Cas. Ins. Co., 584 So. 2d 12 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), rev. denied, 598 So. 2d 77 (Fla. 1992).

Further, as the Fourth District recognized in its opinion below, the trial court applied the "fairly debatable" standard, as

evidenced by the jury instructions, and the jury found State Farm liable:

... The question of whether the evidence is fairly debatable is for the jury. Here, there was conflicting evidence on the issue, preventing the direction of a verdict in the appellant's favor. ...

State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co. v. LaForet, 632 So. 2d 608, 609 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). For this reason, the Fourth District declined to decide whether the "fairly debatable" standard should apply in Florida. Like the Fourth District, this Court should decline to address the "fairly debatable" issue since, regardless of which standard applies, the record supports the jury's finding of bad faith.

Further, the fairly debatable standard is not the standard for first party bad faith since the standard is delineated in Section 624.155(1)(b)1.:

(1) Any person may bring a civil action against an insurer when such person is damaged:

* * *

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